RECEIVED

Apr 13 2026

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

**APPEAL FROM MARLBORO COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge**

**Appellate Case No. 2026-000076
Circuit Court Case No.: 2025CP3400154**

Sharon Covington and Dorothy Douglas, Respondents,

v.

**1st Better Living 2, LLC; Marlboro County Delinquent Tax Collector; Newrez, LLC d/b/a
Shellpoint Mortgage Servicing, Defendants,**

of which Newrez LLC d/b/a Shellpoint Mortgage Servicing is the Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

**G. Benjamin Milam (SC Bar No. 80311)
Bradley Arant Boult Cummings LLP
214 N. Tryon Street, Suite 3700
Charlotte, NC 28202

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the circuit court erred as a matter of law to the extent it found that the Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”) does not govern the arbitration clause in the 1998 Manufactured Home Retail Installment Contract and Security Agreement (the “Loan Agreement”), where the original lender was a Delaware corporation headquartered in Minnesota and the Loan Agreement itself expressly recites that it is made pursuant to a transaction in interstate commerce and is governed by the FAA.

2. Whether the circuit court erred as a matter of law in finding the arbitration clause unenforceable on grounds of unconscionability, where the clause provides bilateral access to remedies, the Plaintiff’s “mutuality” argument has been expressly rejected by the South Carolina Supreme Court, and the FAA preempts state-law rules that would single out arbitration agreements for disfavored treatment.

3. Whether the circuit court erred in declining to compel arbitration of the claims of Plaintiff Sharon Covington—a non-signatory who asserts rights pursuant to payments she has made on the loan and whose claims arise directly from and are intertwined with the Loan Agreement.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Loan Agreement and its Arbitration Clause

On August 14, 1998, Plaintiff Dorothy Q. Douglas executed a Manufactured Home Retail Installment Contract and Security Agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) providing a loan (“Loan”) to finance the purchase of a manufactured home at 122 Pearce Lane, Bennettsville, South Carolina, for \$53,327.78. (Arbitration Order ¶ 1.) The seller was S&G Enterprises of Darlington, South Carolina. (Summary Judgment Order at 1.) The original lender and security interest holder was Green Tree Financial Servicing Corporation—a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business in Saint Paul, Minnesota. (Arbitration Order ¶ 3.) Green Tree obtained a Certificate of Authority to transact business in South Carolina from the Secretary of State on May 9, 1995. (*Id.*)

The Loan Agreement contains Section 14, captioned “ARBITRATION,” which provides in pertinent part:

ARBITRATION: All disputes, claims or controversies arising from or relating to this Contract or the parties thereto shall be resolved by binding arbitration by one arbitrator selected by Assignee with consent of Buyer(s). This agreement is made pursuant to a transaction in interstate commerce and shall be governed by the Federal Arbitration Act at 9 U.S.C. Section 1. Judgment upon the award rendered may be entered in any court having jurisdiction. . . . Notwithstanding anything hereunto the contrary, Assignee retains an option to use judicial (filing a lawsuit) or non-judicial relief to enforce a security agreement relating to the Manufactured Home . . . or to foreclose on the Manufactured Home. The Institution and maintenance of a lawsuit to foreclose upon any collateral, to obtain a monetary judgment or to enforce the security agreement shall not constitute a waiver of the right of any party to compel arbitration regarding any other dispute or remedy subject to arbitration in this Contract, including the filing of a counterclaim in a suit brought by Assignee pursuant to this provision.

(Loan Agreement § 14; Arbitration Order ¶ 2.)

B. The Tax Sale and the Underlying Ejectment

On November 6, 2023, the Marlboro County Delinquent Tax Collector conducted a tax sale of the manufactured home for delinquent property taxes; the property was purchased by 1st Better Living 2, LLC. (Summary Judgment Order at 1.) On October 4, 2024, 1st Better Living 2 received a Bill of Sale. (*Id.*) On May 6, 2025, the Marlboro County Magistrate Court issued a writ of ejectment against Plaintiff Sharon Covington in favor of 1st Better Living 2. (Summary Judgment Order at 1; Second Am. Compl. ¶ 12.) Newrez, the current servicer of the Loan, was not a party to the Magistrate Court proceedings.

C. Procedural History

Respondents appealed the ejectment to the Marlboro County Court of Common Pleas, Fourth Judicial Circuit; and on May 22, 2025, Respondents filed an Amended Complaint adding Newrez as a defendant and asserting claims for (1) negligence and (2) violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act (“SCUTPA”), both predicated on Newrez’s servicing of the Loan Agreement. (First Am. Compl. ¶¶ 25-37.)

Newrez moved to dismiss the First Amended Complaint or, in the alternative, to stay the claims and compel arbitration pursuant to the Loan Agreement’s arbitration clause. (Mot. to Dismiss Am. Compl.) The circuit court heard oral argument on December 4, 2025. (Dec. 4, 2025, Tr. of Proceedings.) On December 9, 2025, the Honorable Robert E. Hood entered a Form 4 Order denying the motion, including the request to compel arbitration. (Dec. 9, 2025, Form 4 Order.) On January 2, 2026, the circuit court granted Respondents leave to file a Second Amended Complaint. (Summary Judgment Order at 4.) On February 10, 2026, the circuit court entered its formal written Order Denying Enforcement of Arbitration (the “Arbitration Order”), incorporating by reference

Respondents' opposition brief to Newrez's motion and finding that the arbitration clause was unenforceable. (Arbitration Order ¶ 4.)

Newrez timely noticed appeal on January 12, 2026 (Notice of Appeal), and filed an Amended Notice of Appeal on February 19, 2026, encompassing the Arbitration Order. (Amended Notice of Appeal.) This Court initially held the appeal in abeyance pending a determination of appealability but, by order dated March 12, 2026, found that it "appears the orders are subject to immediate appeal" and that the appeal may proceed. Newrez now submits this initial brief.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The circuit court erred on three independent grounds, each of which requires reversal. First, the Federal Arbitration Act governs the Loan Agreement, and its preemptive force compels enforcement of the arbitration clause. The FAA applies to any written arbitration agreement in a contract evidencing a transaction involving interstate commerce. 9 U.S.C. § 2. To the extent the circuit court accepted Respondents’ argument that this is a purely intrastate contract, that was legal error. Three independent bases establish interstate commerce: (1) the Loan Agreement itself expressly recites that it “is made pursuant to a transaction in interstate commerce and shall be governed by the Federal Arbitration Act”; (2) the original lender, Green Tree Financial Servicing Corporation, was a Delaware corporation headquartered in Minnesota—an out-of-state entity financing a South Carolina manufactured home purchase; and (3) Newrez is a national loan servicer operating across state lines. Plaintiffs’ reliance on *Flexon* is misplaced.¹ *Flexon*’s intrastate holding is factually inapposite: unlike the purely local hospital-insurance pool contract in *Flexon*, the Loan Agreement involves a Delaware corporation headquartered in Minnesota and expressly designates the transaction as interstate.

Second, the arbitration clause is not unconscionable. South Carolina defines unconscionability as “the absence of meaningful choice on the part of one party due to one-sided contract provisions, together with terms which are so oppressive that no reasonable person would make them and no fair and honest person would accept them.” *Damico v. Lennar Carolinas, LLC*, 437 S.C. 596, 611, 879 S.E.2d 746, 754 (2022) (quoting *Fanning v. Fritz’s Pontiac-Cadillac-Buick, Inc.*, 322 S.C. 399, 403, 472 S.E.2d 242, 245 (1996)). The arbitration clause here is a standard provision found in manufactured home retail installment contracts, providing bilateral

¹ See *Flexon v. PHC-Jasper, Inc.*, 399 S.C. 83, 731 S.E.2d 1 (Ct. App. 2012).

access to dispute resolution, preserving all legal and equitable remedies, and permitting judgment on any award in any court of competent jurisdiction. The South Carolina Supreme Court has explicitly rejected the mutuality argument advanced by Plaintiffs: a carve-out which allows Newrez to pursue judicial remedies to enforce certain rights, while routing all other disputes to arbitration, does not deprive Plaintiffs of any remedy and does not invalidate an arbitration clause. *Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp.*, 343 S.C. 531, 541, 542 S.E.2d 360, 365 (2001). Furthermore, the FAA independently preempts any state-law unconscionability doctrine that would single out arbitration clauses for disfavored treatment. *See AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion*, 563 U.S. 333, 341 (2011).

Third, the claims of Plaintiff Sharon Covington are also subject to arbitration under equitable estoppel because she has for years made payments on Douglas's loan and her claims are directly dependent upon and intertwined with the Loan Agreement. A non-signatory who claims the benefits of a contract cannot simultaneously disclaim its arbitration clause. Alternatively, if Covington cannot be compelled to arbitrate, her claims must be stayed pending arbitration of Douglas's claims to avoid duplicative proceedings and inconsistent results.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Unless parties agree otherwise, “the question of the arbitrability of a claim is an issue for judicial determination.” *Dixon v. Pattee*, 442 S.C. 233, 251, 898 S.E.2d 158, 167 (Ct. App. 2023). “Determinations of arbitrability are subject to de novo review.” *Stokes v. Metro. Life Ins. Co.*, 351 S.C. 606, 609, 571 S.E.2d 711, 713 (Ct. App. 2002); *see also New Hope Missionary Baptist Church v. Paragon Builders*, 379 S.C. 620, 625, 667 S.E.2d 1, 3 (Ct. App. 2008) (“Appeal from the denial of a motion to compel arbitration is subject to de novo review.”). Where there is evidence to support them, factual findings “will not be overruled.” *Stokes*, 351 S.C. at 610, 571 S.E.2d at 713. However, where there is “no evidence to reasonably support” a factual finding made by a trial court, the appellate court on review need not be bound by it. *Deloitte & Touche, LLP v. Unisys Corp.*, 358 S.C. 179, 182, 594 S.E.2d 523, 525 (Ct. App. 2004). “[I]n deciding whether the parties have agreed to submit a particular grievance to arbitration, a court is not to rule on the potential merits of the underlying claims.” *Landers v. Fed. Deposit Ins. Corp.*, 402 S.C. 100, 108, 739 S.E.2d 209, 213 (2013).

ARGUMENT

I. The Federal Arbitration Act governs the loan agreement and mandates enforcement of the arbitration clause.

Under Section 2 of the FAA, a contract evidencing a transaction involving commerce that contains an agreement to settle disputes by arbitration “shall be valid, irrevocable, and enforceable.” 9 U.S.C. § 2. South Carolina courts consistently recognize that the FAA “represents a liberal federal policy favoring arbitration agreements.” *See Lackey v. Green Tree Fin. Corp.*, 330 S.C. 388, 396, 498 S.E.2d 898, 902 (Ct. App. 1998) (internal citations omitted). “[A]ny doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues should be resolved in favor of arbitration.” *Id.* at 903.

The circuit court erred in accepting Respondents’ argument that the Loan Agreement is a purely intrastate contract outside the FAA’s reach.

A. The Loan Agreement plainly involves interstate commerce, triggering FAA preemption.

The FAA’s reach coincides with that of the Commerce Clause, meaning the FAA applies so long as a transaction affects interstate commerce. *See Cape Romain Contractors, Inc. v. Wando E., LLC*, 405 S.C. 115, 121, 747 S.E.2d 461, 464 (2013). Parties’ intent to carry out an intrastate transaction does not control; the inquiry focuses on the objective nature of the commercial activity. *See Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp.*, 343 S.C. 531, 542 S.E.2d 360, 363 (2001). In determining whether a transaction involves interstate commerce, the court examines the agreement, the complaint, and the surrounding facts. *Hicks Unlimited, Inc. v. UniFirst Corp.*, 439 S.C. 623, 633, 889 S.E.2d 564, 569 (2023). The proper analysis involves consideration of all three broad categories of Congress’s commerce power: (1) the use of the channels of interstate commerce, (2) regulation of persons or things in interstate commerce, and (3) activities having a substantial relation to interstate commerce. *Cape Romain*, 405 S.C. at 121, 747 S.E.2d at 464. Three independent grounds establish interstate commerce here.

First, the Loan Agreement itself expressly recites that it “is made pursuant to a transaction in interstate commerce and shall be governed by the Federal Arbitration Act at 9 U.S.C. Section 1.” (Arbitration Order ¶ 2.) This is not boilerplate to be disregarded; it is the parties’ own contractual characterization of their transaction.² Courts apply ordinary contract interpretation

² Respondents’ invocation of *contra proferentem* to construe the interstate commerce recitation against Green Tree fares no better. The doctrine applies only to ambiguous contract terms, and the recitation that the Loan Agreement “is made pursuant to a transaction in interstate commerce” is unambiguous on its face—particularly when read alongside the objective fact that Green Tree was a Delaware corporation headquartered in Minnesota. In any event, even if the contractual recitation

principles to such recitations, and Respondents offered no basis to override the parties' written agreement on this point. While a contractual recitation standing alone cannot substitute for proof that a contract "involves commerce in fact," that is not the situation presented here. *See Hicks*, 439 S.C. at 632, 889 S.E.2d at 568. The objective facts before the trial court independently establish interstate commerce.

Specifically, the original lender, Green Tree Financial Servicing Corporation, was a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business in Saint Paul, Minnesota. (Arbitration Order ¶ 3.) The financing of a South Carolina manufactured home purchase by a Delaware corporation headquartered in Minnesota is a transaction involving interstate commerce under any standard. *See Walden v. Harrelson Nissan, Inc.*, 399 S.C. 205, 211, 731 S.E.2d 324, 327 n. 2 (Ct. App. 2012) ("There is no dispute the transaction here included a written agreement to arbitrate and involved interstate commerce as [plaintiff] is a South Carolina resident, [defendant] is a North Carolina corporation, the vehicle was manufactured in Tennessee, and financing was provided [from] California."). The fact that Douglas, S&G Enterprises, and the initial payment collector were all South Carolina residents is immaterial: the question is whether the *transaction* involves interstate commerce, not whether some of the parties are in-state. *See Citizens Bank v. Alafabco, Inc.*, 539 U.S. 52, 56-58 (2003).

The financing of the sale of the manufactured home by a foreign corporation by itself is sufficient to render the transaction one involving interstate commerce. *See Munoz*, 343 S.C. 531, 539, 542 S.E.2d 360, 364 (finding that transaction involving out-of-state creditor was in interstate commerce); *see also Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assoc.*, 346 S.C. 580, 596, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118

were disregarded entirely, the interstate commerce nexus is independently established by the objective facts.

(2001) (finding that a real estate development partnership engaged in interstate commerce—even though the partnership and property were located entirely in South Carolina—because it utilized out-of-state materials, contractors, and investors).

Plaintiffs' reliance on *Flexon* was misplaced. *Flexon* held the FAA inapplicable where a South Carolina resident was hired to perform services at a medical center in Hardeeville, South Carolina and other sites in Beaufort and Jasper Counties. 399 S.C. at 89, 731 S.E.2d at 4. Here, by contrast, the original lender was an out-of-state Delaware corporation, and the Loan Agreement expressly designates the transaction as interstate. *Flexon*'s narrow intrastate holding has no application to these facts. To the extent that the Circuit Court held otherwise, that ruling was in error.

B. The FAA's strong federal policy favoring arbitration requires enforcement of valid arbitration agreements.

The FAA embodies a "liberal federal policy favoring arbitration agreements." *Moses H. Cone Mem'l Hosp. v. Mercury Constr. Corp.*, 460 U.S. 1, 24 (1983); *Lackey*, 330 S.C. at 396, 498 S.E.2d at 902. Courts must rigorously enforce arbitration agreements according to their terms. *See Dean Witter Reynolds Inc. v. Byrd*, 470 U.S. 213, 218-21 (1985). Once a court determines that a valid arbitration agreement exists and that the dispute falls within its scope, the FAA mandates a stay of litigation and an order compelling arbitration. 9 U.S.C. § 3.

The circuit court's role is limited to determining whether a binding agreement to arbitrate exists; it does not evaluate the merits of the underlying claims. *Landers*, 402 S.C. at 108, 739 S.E.2d at 213.

Here, the existence of the arbitration clause is undisputed; Douglas signed the Loan Agreement; and Respondents' negligence and SCUTPA claims arise directly from Newrez's servicing of the Loan Agreement, placing them squarely within the clause's broad scope covering

“all disputes, claims or controversies arising from or relating to this Contract or the parties thereto.” (Arbitration Order ¶ 2.) The circuit court was required to enforce the agreement. Its refusal to do so was legal error that this Court should correct.

II. The arbitration clause is valid and enforceable; it is not unconscionable.

Even if this Court were to find the FAA does not independently require reversal, the circuit court erred in finding the arbitration clause unconscionable. The unconscionability standard in South Carolina is demanding, and the arbitration clause at issue falls far short of meeting it.

A. The high bar for unconscionability is not met here.

“In South Carolina, unconscionability is defined as the absence of meaningful choice on the part of one party due to one-sided contract provisions, together with terms that are so oppressive that no reasonable person would make them and no fair and honest person would accept them.” *Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 14, 24-25, 644 S.E.2d 663, 668 (2007). Assessment of unconscionability must be made on a case-by-case basis, considering all facts and circumstances. *Damico*, 437 S.C. at 611, 879 S.E.2d at 755. “Adhesion contracts . . . are not per se unconscionable.” *Simpson*, 373 S.C. at 27, 644 S.E.2d at 669. Even where a party may have lacked meaningful choice, the agreement “is not necessarily unconscionable” unless its terms are “so oppressive that no reasonable person would make them and no fair and honest person would accept them.” *Damico*, 437 S.C. at 611, 879 S.E.2d at 754-55.

The arbitration clause in the Loan Agreement is objectively reasonable. It: (1) broadly covers all disputes without exclusions that favor one party; (2) provides for selection of an independent arbitrator consented to by the buyer; (3) permits judgment on any award to be entered in any court of competent jurisdiction; (4) preserves all legal and equitable remedies, including money damages, declaratory relief, and injunctive relief; and (5) contains a mutual jury trial

waiver. (See Arbitration Order at 2.) These are commercially reasonable and unremarkable features.

Moreover, courts applying the FAA must be careful not to impose unconscionability standards that single out arbitration clauses for disfavored treatment relative to other contractual provisions. *Lackey*, 330 S.C. at 397, 498 S.E.2d at 903; *see also AT&T*, 563 U.S. at 341 (FAA preempts state-law rules that disproportionately burden arbitration agreements). A court may not find an arbitration clause unconscionable simply because the contract is standardized or because one party had greater bargaining power. The clause here is not unconscionable.

B. The Supreme Court in *Munoz* explicitly rejects Plaintiffs’ argument that the carve-out for certain enforcement remedies of the lender renders the clause oppressively one-sided.

Respondents argued in the court below that the arbitration clause is impermissibly one-sided because it reserves to the Assignee the option to pursue judicial remedies to enforce the security agreement, obtain a monetary judgment, or foreclose on the manufactured home, while compelling the borrower to arbitrate all other disputes. This argument has been expressly rejected by the South Carolina Supreme Court in *Munoz*.

The carve-out in this case serves a valid commercial purpose by allowing the lender to obtain prompt judicial relief on collateral that may depreciate, be destroyed, or otherwise lose value during extended arbitration proceedings, while still routing all non-enforcement disputes to arbitration. Critically, the carve-out merely changes the forum for the dispute and does not strip Douglas of any remedy. If Newrez were to sue judicially to enforce the security agreement or foreclose, Douglas would retain access to courts to defend that action.

The Supreme Court—interpreting a nearly identical carve-out in *Munoz v. Green Tree Financial Corporation*—rejected the notion that a lack of mutuality of forum rendered an

arbitration provision unenforceable. As the court stated: “We find the doctrine of mutuality of remedy does not apply here. An agreement providing for arbitration does not determine the *remedy* for a breach of contract but only the *forum* in which the remedy for the breach is determined. The Munozes have not been deprived of a remedy—they simply must seek their remedy through arbitration rather than through the judicial system.” 343 S.C. 531, 543, 542 S.E.2d 360, 365 (internal citations omitted). In any event, “under state law, a lack of mutuality of remedy does not invalidate a contract.” *Id.* (citing *Lackey v. Green Tree Fin. Corp.*, 330 S.C. 388, 498 S.E.2d 989 (Ct. App. 1998)). Because *Munoz* expressly rejected Plaintiffs’ argument, the Circuit Court’s determination of unenforceability was in error.

III. Plaintiff Sharon Covington’s claims are also subject to arbitration or, in the alternative, must be stayed.

The circuit court’s Arbitration Order broadly denied enforcement of the arbitration clause without separately analyzing Plaintiff Sharon Covington’s distinct status as a non-signatory. That failure constitutes independent error warranting reversal.

A. Covington’s claims are subject to arbitration under equitable estoppel.

It is axiomatic that arbitration is a matter of contract: ordinarily, a non-signatory cannot be compelled to arbitrate. *Int’l Paper Co. v. Schwabedissen Maschinen & Anlagen GMBH*, 206 F.3d 411, 416 (4th Cir. 2000). However, “in an appropriate case a nonsignatory can enforce, or be bound by, an arbitration provision.” *Id.* at 416-17; *Wilson v. Willis*, 426 S.C. 326, 339, 827 S.E.2d 167, 174 (2019). “South Carolina has recognized several theories that could bind nonsignatories to arbitration agreements under general principles of contract and agency law, including (1) incorporation by reference, (2) assumption, (3) agency, (4) veil piercing/alter ego, and (5) estoppel.” *Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 338, 827 S.E.2d at 174.

In particular, a non-signatory is estopped from refusing to comply with an arbitration clause where it seeks to obtain a direct benefit from the same contract. “A party may not rely on the contract when it works to its advantage, and repudiate it when it works to its disadvantage.” *Dixon v. Pattee*, 442 S.C. 233, 258, 898 S.E.2d 158, 171 (Ct. App. 2023). Thus, where the plaintiffs’ pleadings in *Dixon* showed that they sought to enforce warranties in an agreement, they were estopped from denying that they were bound by an arbitration provision in the same agreement. *See id.*

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