RECEIVED

Jul 06 2026

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

**APPEAL FROM MARLBORO COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas**

**Robert E. Hood
Circuit Court Judge**

**Appellate Case No. 2026-000076
Marlboro County Case No. 2025-CP-34-00154**

Sharon Covington and Dorothy Douglas, Respondents,

v.

**1st Better Living 2, LLC; Marlboro
County Delinquent Tax Collector; and
NewRez, LLC d/b/a Shellpoint
Mortgage Servicing, Defendants,**

**of which NewRez, LLC d/b/a Shellpoint
Mortgage Servicing, is the Appellant.**

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

**Jason Scott Luck
P.O. Box 47
Bennettsville, SC 29512
843.479.6863 (o)
843.479.7222 (f)
jason@luck.law**

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

ARGUMENT

I. The February 10, 2026, Order is void, leaving Shellpoint's alleged errors unpreserved.

It is well-settled that the service of a notice of appeal divests the lower court of jurisdiction to consider matters affected by the appeal. *See Tillman v. Oakes*, 398 S.C. 245, 256 n.3, 728 S.E.2d 45, 51 n.3 (Ct. App. 2012); Rule 205, SCACR; Rule 241(a), SCACR. The Circuit Court denied Shellpoint's motion to dismiss on December 9, 2025. (R 1-3). Shellpoint served its first Notice of Appeal on January 8, 2026. (R 123-124). The Circuit Court issued its Amended Order on February 10, 2026. (R 9-12). The Circuit Court lacked jurisdiction to issue an amended order, as the December 9, 2025, order was on appeal. Thus, the February 10, 2026, order is void. *See Thomas & Howard Co. v. T.W. Graham and Co.*, 318 S.C. 286, 291, 457 S.E.2d 340, 343 (1995) (A judgment of a court without subject matter jurisdiction is void.).

With the February 10, 2026, order void, the December 9, 2025, order of the Circuit Court is the only order before this Court, and that order does not contain rulings on Shellpoint's appellate arguments. When a trial court does not explicitly rule on an argument raised, and an appellant makes no Rule 59(e) motion to obtain a ruling, the appellate court may not address the issue. *Noisette v. Ismail*, 304 S.C. 56, 58, 403 S.E.2d 122, 124 (1991); *see also Cowburn v. Leventis*, 366 S.C. 20, 40-41, 619 S.E.2d 437, 448-449 (Ct.App. 2005) (holding that when a trial court makes a general ruling on an issue, but does not address the specific argument raised by a party, that party must make a motion asking the trial court to rule on the issue in order to preserve it for appeal.). Because the December 9, 2025, order does not

explicitly rule on any of Shellpoint's arguments on appeal and Shellpoint did not file a Rule 59(e), SCRPC motion, these arguments are not preserved. This Court must affirm.

II. Shellpoint has not met its burden of proof regarding interstate commerce.

The cruelly one-sided arbitration provision of the relevant contract (R 78-79) is asserted under the Federal Arbitration Act. The party seeking to compel arbitration under the FAA "bears the burden of establishing the existence of a binding contract to arbitrate the dispute." *Minnieland Priv. Day Sch., Inc. v. Applied Underwriters Captive Risk Assurance Co.*, 867 F.3d 449, 456 (4th Cir. 2017).

The contract that contains the arbitration provision at issue is between Dorothy Douglas of Bennettsville, S&G Enterprises of Darlington, and Green Tree Financial Servicing Corporation. (R 77). The relevant contract lists the address of Green Tree Financial Servicing Corporation as: "7499 Parklane Road Ste 136, Columbia, SC 29223". (R 77). If the buyer, seller, and the collector of payments all reside in South Carolina, then the activity within the contract is intrastate. The FAA does not apply to intrastate contracts. *See Flexon v. PHC-Jasper, Inc.*, 399 S.C. 83, 731 S.E.2d 1 (Ct. App. 2012). Certainly the relevant contract contains recitations that it implicates interstate commerce, but that language is boilerplate and conflicts with the office location provided by Green Tree Financial Servicing Corporation in the body of the contract. (R 77-78). This provision is therefore ambiguous and is to be construed against the seller (the drafter), and the holder of the contract, by its terms, stands in the shoes of the seller. (R. 79). *E.g. State v. Willis*, 409 S.C. 183, 762 S.E.2d 3 (2014)

(*contra proferentem*); see also *Hawkins v. Greenwood Dev. Corp.*, 328 S.C. 585, 592, 493 S.E.2d 875, 878 (Ct. App. 1997) (“A contract is ambiguous when the terms of the contract are inconsistent on their face...”).

At hearing, Shellpoint provided a document from the South Carolina Secretary of State relating to a “Green Tree Financial Servicing Corporation” from Delaware. (R 155, 169-171). This document does not contain the Columbia, South Carolina address found in the relevant contract, and Shellpoint did not introduce the necessary foundation to connect the Green Tree Financial Servicing Corporation of the exhibit to the one of the relevant contract.³ (R 77, 155, 169-171). It was Shellpoint’s burden to present evidence⁴ establishing use in interstate commerce, and it did not meet this burden; the Circuit Court did not err in denying Shellpoint’s motion to dismiss.

III. The arbitration provision at issue is unconscionable.

“At its core, unconscionability is defined "as the absence of meaningful choice on the part of one party due to one-sided contract provisions, together with terms which are so oppressive that no reasonable person would make them and no fair and honest person would accept them.” *Damico v. Lennar Carolinas, LLC*, 437 S.C. 596, 879 S.E.2d 746 (2022) (quoting *Fanning v. Fritz's Pontiac-Cadillac-Buick, Inc.*, 322 S.C. 399, 403, 472 S.E.2d 242, 245 (1996)). Contracts of adhesion, such as the one in

³ The fact that Respondents did not object to the lack of foundation is of no moment, as this Court may affirm the Circuit Court for any reason present in the record. See Rule 220(c), SCACR (“The appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal.”).

⁴ Arguments of counsel are not evidence. *E.g. Bowers v. Bowers*, 304 S.C. 65, 68, 403 S.E.2d 127, 129 (Ct. App. 1991).

this case, are viewed with “considerable skepticism” and such contracts are “strong indicator[s]” of lack of meaningful choice. *Id.*

In addition to the lack of meaningful choice, the contract (and arbitration provision) at issue in this action is oppressively one-sided and lack mutuality. While the buyer loses all access to the courts, the seller/holder of the contract may still, at its option, to enforce a security agreement, sue for breach of contract, or foreclose on a property secured by a mortgage. (R 79). Further, if the seller/holder pursues remedies in court, it still has the right to compel any counterclaim against it to arbitration. (R 79).

While Shellpoint characterizes our Supreme Court’s decision in *Munoz* as controlling on the issue of mutuality in this contract (App. Br. arg. II.B.), the *Munoz* court did not consider that arbitration provision in conjunction with an attorney’s fees provision that prohibits one party from obtaining attorney’s fees as a prevailing party. Here, under section 12 of this contract (which applies to, and is therefore a part of, the arbitration provision), only the seller/holder has a right to pursue reimbursement of attorney’s fees. (R 78). The totality of these unmutual provisions, forced upon Respondent Douglas in this contract of adhesion by a sophisticated seller with outsized bargaining power,⁵ are sufficiently oppressive and one-sided to warrant finding it unenforceable under the doctrine of unconscionability. The Circuit Court did not err in denying Shellpoint’s motion to dismiss and must be affirmed.

⁵ The *Damico* court also provides an exploration of the disparity of bargaining positions and sophistication between a long-standing commercial seller of homes and the usual homebuyer. Much of its analysis applicable to this transaction.

IV. Sharon Covington is not subject to the arbitration provision at issue in this appeal.

Shellpoint's third argument on appeal is that the arbitration provision in question also applies to Respondent Sharon Covington under an estoppel theory. This argument is not preserved, as Shellpoint advances this argument for the first time⁶ on appeal. *See Pye v. Estate of Fox*, 369 S.C. 555, 564, 633 S.E.2d 505, 510 (2006) ("It is well settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved."). Further, Shellpoint's brief notes: "The circuit court's [February 10, 2026] Arbitration Order broadly denied enforcement of the arbitration clause without separately analyzing Plaintiff Sharon Covington's distinct status as a non-signatory." (App. Br. arg. III). Without a Rule 59(e), SCRCP, motion addressing this issue, it is not preserved for appeal. *E.g. Noisette, supra*.

If Shellpoint's argument is preserved, it has not met its burden of proof. Generally, arbitration is a matter of contract and a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which he or she has not agreed to arbitrate. *E.g. International Paper Co. v. Schwabedissen Maschinen & Anlagen GMBH*, 206 F.3d

⁶ Shellpoint did argue orally at hearing that Covington's arguments were "derivative" of Douglas's arguments, but the meaning of this term in this context is unclear. (R 163). Further, the fact that the Respondents mentioned the inapplicability of estoppel in one of its Circuit Court filings does not preserve it for Shellpoint's appeal. *See McCall v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 359 S.C. 372, 597 S.E.2d 181 (Ct. App. 2004) (an appellant cannot raise an issue on appeal that was raised by the respondent at trial, but on which appellant advanced no arguments to the trial court; the argument must have been raised by appellant in order for appellant to raise it on appeal).

411, 416 (4th Cir. 2000). Shellpoint admits Respondent Covington is not a party to the purported arbitration agreement: “[Shellpoint] is unaware of any relevant contractual or other relationship it has to Ms. Covington...” (R 40). “She [Respondent Covington] has no connection so far as I can tell to my client [Shellpoint] whatsoever.” (R 163).

Rarely, a nonsignatory may be compelled to participate under an estoppel theory; however, the nonsignatory must be aware of the agreement and has benefitted from the agreement. *Id.* at 418. Shellpoint did not present any evidence to support a finding of estoppel, particularly of Covington’s awareness of an agreement and any benefit she has received from the agreement. Respondents’ response to Shellpoint’s motion to dismiss noted this deficiency.⁷ (R 39-40). Thus, Shellpoint has not met its burden of proof and the Circuit Court must be affirmed.

V. The Circuit Court must be affirmed under the “two issue rule”.

“Under the two issue rule, where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become law of the case.” *Jones v. Lott*, 387 S.C. 339, 346, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010). Shellpoint’s original motion to dismiss addresses more than just a purported right to arbitrate. Shellpoint’s filings and hearing arguments also argued for the dismissal of Respondent Covington’s causes of action on their merits based on the duties set forth in the mobile home sales contract, and it also argued for

⁷ To the extent the Circuit Court’s February 10, 2026, order is not void (see Argument I), this finding, which was incorporated into that order, must be upheld if it is reasonably supported by the evidence. *Simpson, supra*.

the severance of the actions against Shellpoint from the action to set aside the Tax Sale Title. (R 35-42, 155-156). Shellpoint's brief does not appeal these grounds for denial – they are thus the law of the case. *See, e.g., Buckner v. Preferred Mut. Ins. Co.*, 255 S.C. 159, 160-161, 177 S.E.2d 544, 544 (1970) (unappealed ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case). This adjudication supports affirmance under the “two issue rule”.

Additionally, Shellpoint did not appeal the Circuit Court's January 2, 2026, Order. (R 4-8). The January 2, 2026, Order granted Respondents partial summary judgment on their claim to void the relevant tax sale. (R 4-8). It also granted Respondents leave to amend their complaint to include the factual allegations asserted in their memorandum in opposition to Shellpoint's motion to dismiss. (R 7, 53-115). In effect, the Circuit Court has adjudicated that the Respondents have set forth facts sufficient to constitute causes of action for negligence and SCUPTA against Shellpoint. This adjudication is also the law of the case, and it also supports affirmance under the “two issue rule”.

VI. As an additional sustaining ground, Shellpoint has waived any purported right to arbitrate.

“The right to enforce an arbitration clause may be waived.” *Davis v. KB Home of S.C., Inc.*, 394 S.C. 116, 131, 713 S.E.2d 799, 807 (Ct. App. 2011) (citation omitted).

“There is no set rule as to what constitutes a waiver of the right to arbitrate; the question depends on the facts of each case.” *Id.* (quotation removed). The typical factors considered under a waiver analysis described in *Davis* do not fit the somewhat unusual facts of this case. Instead, this Court must consider whether Shellpoint’s failure to appeal the January 2, 2026, Order constituted a waiver of the right to pursue arbitration. Such an analysis would bear a strong similarity to the analysis under the “two-issue rule” above. The necessary prejudice to the Respondents now possess unappealed adjudications that they have set forth facts sufficient to constitute causes of action for negligence and SCUPTA against Shellpoint. Dismissing their causes of actions and referring this matter to arbitration would strip them of these adjudications, which are the law of the case, and prejudice their claims.

CONCLUSION

The Circuit Court should be affirmed.